
AGENDA 
IRVINE RANCH WATER DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
REGULAR MEETING 

May 23, 2016 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

CALL TO ORDER 5:00 P.M., Board Room, District Office 
15600 Sand Canyon A venue, Irvine, California 

ROLL CALL Directors LaMar, Reinhart, Swan, Withers and President Matheis 

NOTICE 

If you wish to address the Board on any item, including Consent Calendar items, please file your name with 
the Secretary. Forms are provided on the lobby table. Remarks are limited to five minutes per speaker on 
each subject. Consent Calendar items will be acted upon by one motion, without discussion, unless a request 
is made for specific items to be removed from the Calendar for separate action. 

COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD 

1. A. Written:

B. Oral:

2. ITEMS RECEIVED TOO LA TE TO BE AGENDIZED

Recommendation: Determine that the need to discuss and/or take immediate action on item(s)
introduced come to the attention of the District subsequent to the agenda being posted.

PRESENTATION 

3. MWDOC CONSERVATION AWARD FOR2015

MWDOC's Director Jeffery Thomas and Director Sat Tamaribuchi will be presenting the
District with a Conservation award for its efforts in 2015.

WORKSHOP 

4. SEWER FLOW PROJECTIONS AND DEMAND FACTOR CALIBRATION

Recommendation: Receive and file.



IRWD Board of Directors' Meeting 
May 23, 2016 
Page 2 

CONSENT CALENDAR Next Resolution No. 2016-9 

5. MINUTES OF BOARD MEETING

Recommendation: That the minutes of the April 25, 2016 Regular Board
Meeting be approved as presented.

6. RATIFY/APPROVE BOARD OF DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE AT
MEETINGS AND EVENTS

Recommendation: That the Board ratify/approve the meetings and events for
Steven LaMar, Mary Aileen Matheis, Douglas Reinhart, Peer Swan, and John
Withers as described.

7. APRIL TREASURY REPORTS

Recommendation: That the Board receive and file the Treasurer's Investment
Summary Report, the Monthly Interest Rate Swap Summary for April 2016, and
Disclosure Report of Reimbursements to board members and staff; approve the
April 2016 summary of payroll ach payments in the total amount of $2,337,626
and approve the April 2016 accounts payable disbursement summary of
warrants 366466 through 367198, workers' compensation distributions, wire
transfers, payroll withholding distributions and voided checks in the total
amount of $22,3 71,5 73.

8. PROPOSED AMENDED & RESTATED LICENSE AND SUBLICENSE FOR
USE OF SAN JOAQUIN WILDLIFE SANCTUARYSITE, FACILITIES &
ACCESSWAYS

Recommendation: That the Board approve the Third Amended and Restated
License Agreement between Irvine Ranch Water District and San Joaquin
Wildlife Sanctuary subject to non-substantive modifications.

9. 2016 LEGISLATIVE UPDATE

Recommendation: That the Board adopt a "Support in Concept" position on
SB 970 (Leyva) and the development of a State program which would provide
grants to wastewater agencies for the development or implementation of
projects that would integrate food waste processing by the agencies at its
wastewater treatment facilities, result in the diversion of organics from local
landfills, and dedicate cap-and-trade revenues to the wastewater sector; and a
"Support" position on the Santa Ana Mountains to Sea National Monument
proposal.

Items 5-13 



IR WD Board of Directors' Meeting 
May 23, 2016 
Page 3 

CONSENT CALENDAR Next Resolution No. 2016-9 

10. ON-CALL PLAN CHECK SERVICES

Recommendation: That the Board authorize the General Manager to execute a
Professional Services Agreement with Stantec Consulting Services, Inc. for a
not-to-exceed amount of $250,000 for on-call plan check services.

11. HERITAGE FIELDS DISTRICT 8 BIORETENTION BASIN

Recommendation: That the Board approve acceptance of the District 8
Bioretention NTS Facility subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the
application for service, addendum thereto, and Grant of Easement subject to
non-substantive changes as the General Manager may approve.

12. PETERS CANYON WASH CHANNEL WATER CAPTURE AND REUSE
PIPELINE CONTRACT CHANGE ORDER

Recommendation: That the Board authorize the General Manager to approve
Contract Change Order No. 6 in the amount of $128,296.20 with E.J. Meyer
Company for the Peters Canyon Wash Channel Water Capture and Reuse
Pipeline, project 4985.

13. MICHELSON WATER RECYCLING PLANT FILTER PUMP STATION 2
AND DYER ROAD WELLFIELD WELLS 12 AND 13 ROOF
MODIFICATIONS CONSTRUCTION A WARD

Recommendation: That the Board authorize a budget increase in the amount of
$44,500, from $340,500 to $385,000, for project 5453; authorize a budget
increase in the amount of $278,600, from $256,000 to $534,600, for project
5469; and authorize the General Manager to execute a construction contract
with Schuler Constructors in the amount of $501,469 for the Michelson Water
Recycling Plant Filter Pump Station 2, project 5469, and Dyer Road Wellfield
Wells 12 and 13 Roof Modifications, project 5453.

ACTION CALENDAR 

14. VERIFICATIONS OF SUFFICIENT WATER SUPPLY FOR THE WEST
ALTON PARCEL AND EL TORO 100-ACRE PARCEL DEVELOPMENTS

Recommendation: That the Board approve the verification of sufficient water
supply for the West Alton Parcel Development and the verification of
sufficient water supply for the El Toro 100-acre parcel development.

Items 5-13 



IRWD Board of Directors' Meeting 
May 23, 2016 
Page 4 

ACTION CALENDAR - Continued 

15. MICHELSON WATER RECYCLING PLANT BIOSOLIDS AND ENERGY
RECOVERY FACILITIES CONTRACT CHANGE ORDERS AND
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO AGREEMENT WITH ORANGE COUNTY
SANITATION DISTRICT FOR INTERIM SOLIDS HANDLING

Recommendation: That the Board approve Contract Change Order No. 41 in 
the amount of $1,103,650.56 with Filanc/Balfour-Beatty for the Michelson 
Water Recycling Plant Biosolids and Energy Recovery Facilities, project No. 
4286; approve Contract Change Order No. 42 in the credit amount of 
<$199,771.09> with Filanc/Balfour-Beatty for the Michelson Water Recycling 
Plant Biosolids and Energy Recovery Facilities, project No. 4286; and 
authorize the General Manager to execute Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement 
for Transfer of Wastewater Solids Residuals with Orange County Sanitation 
District, subject to non-substantive changes. 

16. HOLT PROPERTY PURCHASE

Recommendation: That the Board, subject to Bardeen Partners, Inc. approval 
of the Assignment of the Purchase Agreement to IRWD, authorize the General 
Manager to execute the Assignment and Assumption of Real Property 
Purchase Agreement accepting the assignment of the purchase and sale 
agreement from Bardeen Partners, Inc.; authorize the Treasurer to request and 
execute any necessary amendment to the purchase and sale agreement or an 
addendum to the escrow instructions to extend the due diligence period for up 
to thirty days to correct the title issue identified on the property; find that all 
matters currently identified with regard to the condition of title, subject to 
correction of the title issue identified on the property, physical condition and 
suitability of the property for the uses contemplated are acceptable; approve 
the addition of project 11956 (7305) to the FY 2015-16 Capital budget in the 
amount of $1,690,000 for the purchase of the property; find that the property 
acquisition only is exempt from CEQA; approve the project and authorize 
staff to post and file the Notices of Exemption in Orange and Riverside 
counties; and, and authorize the General Manager and Treasurer and each 
other officer of the district, each acting singly, to execute and deliver any and 
all documents, program assignments, certificates, instructions and instruments 
necessary or proper for carrying out and closing the real estate purchase 
transaction for the acquisition of the property, subject to correction of the title 
issue identified on the property. 



IRWD Board of Directors' Meeting 
May 23, 2016 
Page 5 

ACTION CALENDAR - Continued 

17. MARTIN PROPERTY PURCHASE

Recommendation: That the Board, subject to Bardeen Partners, Inc. approval 
of the Assignment of the Purchase Agreement to IRWD, authorize the 
General Manager to execute the Assignment and Assumption of Real 
Property Purchase Agreement accepting the assignment of the purchase and 
sale agreement from Bardeen Partners, Inc.; authorize the Treasurer to 
request and execute any necessary amendment to the purchase and sale 
agreement or an addendum to the escrow instructions for the Martin property 
to allow for buyer abandonment of the well with a credit for the cost of the 
well abandonment to be applied to the purchase price; find that all matters 
currently identified with regard to the condition of title, physical condition 
and suitability of the property for the uses contemplated are acceptable; 
approve the addition of project 11955 (7302) to the FY 2015-16 Capital 
budget in the amount of $1,261,000 for the purchase of the Martin property; 
find that the property acquisition only is exempt from CEQA; approve the 
project and authorize staff to post and file the Notices of Exemption in 
Orange and Riverside counties; and authorize the General Manager and 
Treasurer and each other officer of the District, each acting singly, to execute 
and deliver any and all documents, program assignments, certificates, 
instructions and instruments necessary or proper for carrying out and closing 
the real estate purchase transaction for the acquisition of the property. 

OTHER BUSINESS 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.2, members of the Board of Directors or staff may ask questions 
for clarification, make brief announcements, make brief reports on his/her own activities. The Board or a 
Board member may provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information, request staff to 
report back at a subsequent meeting concerning any matter, or direct staff to place a matter of business on a 
future agenda. Such matters may be brought up under the General Manager's Report or Directors' Comments. 

18. A. General Manager's Report

B. Directors' Comments

C. CLOSED SESSION: Conference with Legal Counsel relative to anticipated litigation
Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2)- significant exposure to litigation (one
potential case), and Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4) initiation oflitigation (one
potential case)

D. Open Session

E. Adjourn



IR WD Board of Directors' Meeting 
May 23, 2016 
Page 6 

Availability of agenda materials: Agenda exhibits and other writings that are disclosable public records distributed to all or a 
majority of the members of the Irvine Ranch Water District Board of Directors in connection with a matter subject to 
discussion or consideration at an open meeting of the Board of Directors are available for public inspection in the District's 
office, 15600 Sand Canyon A venue, Irvine, California ("District Office"). If such writings are distributed to members of the 
Board less than 72 hours prior to the meeting, they will be available from the District Secretary of the District Office at the 
same time as they are distributed to Board Members, except that if such writings are distributed one hour prior to, or during, 
the meeting, they will be available at the entrance to the Board of Directors Room of the District Office. The Irvine Ranch 
Water District Board Room is wheelchair accessible. If you require any special disability-related accommodations (e.g., 
access to an amplified sound system, etc.), please contact the District Secretary at (949) 453-5300 during business hours at 
least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the scheduled meeting. This agenda can be obtained in alternative format upon written 
request to the District Secretary at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to the scheduled meeting. 



WORKSHOP 

May 23, 2016 
Prepared by: E. Akjyo��
Submitted by: K. Burton 
Approved by: Paul Cooy �. 

SEWER FLOW PROJECTIONS AND DEMAND FACTOR CALIBRATION 

SUMMARY: 

IR WO staff and consultants have calibrated the District's sewer demand factors for the Sewer 
Collection System Master Plan (SCSMP). IRWD's Demand Forecast Tool (OFT) uses these 
factors to project sewer flows from the current year through build-out conditions. Staff will 
make a presentation of the updated demand factors, calibration methodology, updated sewer flow 
projections, and an update on the SCSMP schedule and progress. 

BACKGROUND: 

In the 2005-06 SCSMP, sewer system flow monitoring was conducted to calibrate the sewage 
generation factors. In 2011-12, an overall water demand factor study was conducted that made 
several adjustments to the sewer flow projections. Over the past four years, IRWD has 
continuously made minor adjustments to land uses, phasing, and sewer projections ( e.g. strategic 
plan presentation in October 2014). 

The current SCSMP focused its analysis on sewage generation factors (i.e. local-interior water 
use factors) that corresponded with residential land use categories projected to have the greatest 
future contributions and growth within the District. This analysis resulted in changes to 18 land 
use categories with the highest estimated local-interior water use (i.e. sewage generation). These 
18 land use categories will contribute approximately 94% of the total future residential sewer 
flows. 

Additionally, this calibration effort made adjustments for several factors including: 

• Land Use Changes - Increased residential development in the IBC area (�18,000
dwelling units), Great Park Neighborhoods (�6,000 dwelling units), and County owned
land (�3,000 dwelling units)

• Conservation Efforts - Sensitivity analysis incorporating plumbing codes and current
reductions in water use

• Phasing- Most of the major developments have been accelerated in the past few years

While some factors exert a downward pressure on projected sewer flows, others ( e.g. increased 
residential development) tend to increase projected sewer flows: there are both upwards and 
downwards pressures on existing and future sewer flows. 

During the calibration phase the consultant, AKM Consulting, conducted a comprehensive sewer 
flow monitoring program at approximately 60 locations and made recommendations for sewage 
generation factors. IRWD staff conducted a final calibration using the OFT and all the sewage 
generation factors. 

ea Sewer Flow Projections and Demand Factor Calibration 

4 



Workshop: Sewer Flow Projections and Demand Factor Calibration 
May 23, 2016 
Page 2 

The final calibration of the sewage generation factors analyzed all of the District's demand 
factors as listed in Exhibit "A". The intent of this calibration was to make final minor 
adjustments using historical data for the entire District. The factors will be used for on-going 
planning studies including urban water master plans, sewage treatment plant master planning, 
sewer collection system sizing, long-term capital program expenditures, and water supply 
requirements. 

IRWD used the DFT and new factors to project the build-out condition sewer flows for several 
sewer tributary areas. The table below summarizes the changes in the new demand projection at 
build-out and the previous projections before the demand factors were updated. 

Summary of Sewer Flow Projections (mgd) 

Sewage Treatment Plant/ Area 
2015 2011-12 2005-06 

Projections Projections SCSMP 

MWRP Tributary 32.� mgd 32.l mg<d 36.2 mgd 

LA WRP Tributary 5.0 mgd 5.5 mgd 7.8 mgd 

OCSD 'T11ibutary 
• IBC I Tustm Legacy 1.5 mg<il 8.32 mg<l 4.3 mgd 
• NeWl)ort C0ast 1.0 mgcl l mgt( l.(!) mgd 

Staff will make a presentation of the updated demand factors, the calibration methodology, and 
the updated demand projections at the Board meeting. A copy of the presentation is attached as 
Exhibit "B". 

The demand factors and sewer system flow projections are an important part of the overall 
SCSMP. The existing system hydraulic model and condition assessments of lift stations, 
siphons, and diversion structures were delivered as part of the recent 75% submittal. The future 
system hydraulic model, capacity analysis, and reliability and redundancy analysis are 
anticipated in late July with the 90% submittal. Staff will also include an update on the SCSMP 
progress at the Board meeting. 

FISCAL IMPACTS: 

None. 

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE: 

This project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) as authorized 
under the California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Chapter 3, Section 15262 which provides 
exemption for planning studies. 



Workshop: Sewer Flow Projections and Demand Factor Calibration 
May 23, 2016 
Page 3 

COMMITTEE STATUS: 

This item was reviewed by the Engineering and Operations Committee on March 15, 2016. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive and file. 

LIST OF EXHIBITS: 

Exhibit "A" - Sewage Generation Demand Factor Table 
Exhibit "B" - PowerPoint Presentation 



EXHIBIT "A" 

Sewer Generation Demand Factor Table 

2015-16 Proposed Factors 

Land Use Land Use DescriptionCode 
1111 Rural Density - Orange
1112 Rural Density - Irvine
1115 Rural Density - County
1121 Estate Density - East Orange
1122 Estate Density - Irvine
l 126 Estate Density - L ake Forest
113 l Low Density - East Orange
1132 Low Density - Irvine
1133 Low Density -Newport Beach
1134 Low Density PC - Tustin
1135 Suburban Density- County Of Orange

--·-i'- -

1136 Low Density - Lake Forest
1141 Low-Medium Density - East Orange

--

1146 Low-Medium Density - Lake Forest
1153 Medium-Low Density- Newport Beach
1161 Medium Density - East Orange
1162 Medium Density - Irvine
1163 Medium Density - Newport Beach
1164 Medium Density PC - Tustin
1166 Medium Density - Lake Forest
1172 Medium-High Density - Irvine
1175 Urban Density - County Of Orange
Il76 Medium-High Density - Lake Forest

-

!High Density - Irvine1182
1183 High Density - Newport Beach

,-

1184 High Density PC - Tustin
1186 High Dens� - Lake Forest
1191 High Rise Density - Orange - Orange east
1192 !!�� Rise Density - Irvine -��J.ne-- ---
1210 General Office
1221 Community Commercial--
1222 Regional Commercial
1230 Commercial Recreation

,- ---

1235 Hotel
1240 · Institutional
1244 Hospital
1260 School - --

1261 UCI
1290 Hotel - - ----

1300 Industrial
----

1310
1320

Industrial - Light
- -

Industrial - Heavy

Average Density Local - Interior(DU or KSF per Acre) 
0.3 I 250
0.3 I 250
0.3 I 300
1.2 300
0.5 300
0.5 300
4.0 300
3.0 215
1.0 250
4.5 450
9.3 215-
3.0 210
10.5 235
11.0 200
2.8 400
19.5 200
7.5 155
5.0 200

11.8 160
7.5 150

17.5 125
29.0 130
17.5 110
32.5 120

-,-

12.3 110
17.4 I 100
32.5 100
35.0 115
40.0 120
20.0 62
9.0 I 142- --

10.0 I 130
8.0 40.5
45.0 110
8.0 30
9.0 165
10.0 20
-

10.0 215
45.0 110
9.l 600

18.0 67 -- ---
25.0 2000

% Change

I 
0%
0%

I 0%I 

0%
0%
0%
0%

(4%)
(14%)

0%
30%

(22%)
0% -

(2%) 
0%
0%

(23%)
(11%)

3%
7%

(4%)
(7%)

(24%)
(8%) 

,_ -

(4%)
(13%)
(13%)

0%
4%
0% 
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%-
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

12%
0% 



EXHIBIT "B" 

Presentation Outline 

• Background

• Changed conditions

• Sewage generation factor calibration

• Sewer flow projections and sensitivity analysis

• Sewer Collection System Master Plan Update

111 ll't:-' '· , 1c•- ,,' 1 H'_', , 15111c, 
• 

8-1



I 
I 

Background 

Sewer flow projections are used for: 
- Sizing future collection and treatment facilities (e.g. MWRP

Phase 3 and upcoming Sewage Treatment Master Plan -
LAWRP upgrades)

- Sizing future development facilities

- Enterprise modeling OCSD CORF I Equity requirements

- Updating future recycled water facilities and potential potable

reuse opportunities

II ,II'..., I , ll1CI' ', ' 11-'I [ 1�11 IC 1 
-l 

Background - Flow Projection Methodology 

• Identify land uses within IRWD Service Area
- Use "land-use" based projections, not population (aka "per-capita")

- Calculate flows per Dwelling Unit (DU) or 1 OOO's Square Feet (KSF)

• Develop Sewage Generation Factors
- Also known as Local Interior Demands

- Approximately 30 residential factors and 30 non-residential factors

• Use IRWD's Demand Forecast Tool to proje�t demands for

2015 to build-out for service area

Sewage 
Generation 

Factor 

H1-Dens1ty 
Residential 

(120 gpdldui 

!I \lflf-' '·1 1 '< · 1/,1 11-r t ,,...,1:1c, --1 

8-2



Background 

Past Calibration Work 
- 2005-06 SCSMP Flow Monitoring and Calibration 
- 2011-12 Overall Water Demand Factor Calibration 

• Changed Conditions
- Land Use Changes 
- Conservation 
- Phasing 

Sensitivity Analysis 

is Critical! 

It is important to resist the temptation to 
anecdotally decrease or increase future 

sewer flows. 
For example ... 

"Future redevelopment WILL continue, 
therefore future sewer flows WILL 
increase ... " 

"Conservation efforts WILL reduce 
future indoor use, therefore future sewer 
flows WILL decrease ... " 

"Current reductions in water use WILL 
remain forever and therefore sewer 
flows WILL be less ... " 

11 .'I ,,.. • If c \U 11i::,1 I ,_,111c, "' 

Changes - Land Use (Since 2005-06) 

• IBC Redevelopment- Converted industrial uses to
approximately 17,000-18,000 dwelling units (EIR

contemplated 20,000 DUs)
• Lake Forest Opportunity Areas -Added:::: 4,000 DUs

• Great Park Neighborhoods - Added ::::6,200 DUs (and the
County added another 3,000 DUs)

• Musick Jail - Increased beds from 1,200 to 7,580
• East Orange - Irvine Company removed ::::2,200 DUs
• Overall Increase of::::: 37 ,000 DUs

II ,l 1f- ,. llll' \, ll':::'1 1 1.;..r11c1 t' 

8-3



Changes - Conservation 

• For IRWD, the State mandated a 16°/o sales

reduction compared to June-Feb 2012-13

• Anticipated reduction in local-interior water use

from new plumbing codes

• Several adjustments to tiered rate structure

II 1''1-' L I l (' 1'1,II-, r •-...111[:I 1 

Changes - Phasing Updates 

• Phasing will not change build-out projections,
but will impact when flows will change.

- Irvine Company indicates that build-out will be within

five to ten years

- I BC Redevelopment accelerated

- Great Park Neighborhoods accelerated

8-4



Sewage Generation Factor Calibration 

• Installed approximately 60 sewer flow monitors

throughout IRWD attempting to isolate various

land uses

• Compared sewer flows with water billing data to

help ensure reasonable factors for local-interior

( sewage generation) component

• Consultant proposed changes to existing local

interior factors

• IRWD completed a final calibration using the OFT

and added one additional change (Light-Industrial)

Sewage Generation Factor Calibration 

Land Use 
Land Use Description 

Code 
Sept2012 Proposed Factors %Change 

1132 Low Density - Irvine 225 215 (4%) 

1133 Low Density - Newport Beach 290 250 (14%) 

1135 Suburban Density- County Of Orange 165 215 30% 

1136 Low Density - lake Forest 270 210 (22%) 

1146 Low-Medium Density- Lake Forest 205 200 (2%) 

1162 . Medium Density - Irvine 200 155 (23%) 

1163 Medium Density - Newport Beach 225 200 (11%) 

1164 Medium Density PC - Tustin 155 160 3% 

1166 Medium Density- Lake Forest 140 150 7% 

1172 ;Medium-High Density- Irvine 130 125 (4%) 

1175 Urban Density - County Of Orange 140 130 (7%) 

1176 Medium-High Density - Lake Forest 145 110 (24%) 

1182 High Density- Irvine 130 120 (8%) 

1183 : High Density- Newport Beach 115 110 (4%) 

1184 High Density PC- Tustin 115 100 (13%) 

1186 :High Density- Lake Forest 115 100 (13%) 

1192 High Rise Density- Irvine - Irvine 115 120 4% 

1310 Industrial - Light 60 67 12% 

H, 11•1- l-',111c· 1 '/ 1:0:.:.r I J1c,111c I HJ 

8-5



Historical MWRP Influent Flows 

25 

20 

15 

10 

5 

23.5 

20.2 20.4 
20 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

11'.'I, � 1 ic:," 1.,1,1''2 {) ..:;111, l Ll 

Sewage Generation Factor Calibration 

• Reviewed MWRP Historical Influent Flows

• Goal is to be within 5-10°/o of the existing flow

monitoring data (Feb 2015)

- Continued redevelopment I increased densities

- Drought I extraordinary conservation I plumbing codes

- Vacancies

- Aging infrastructure

11v1ne h'.1ncr VV.tte, IJ1s111c1 t; 

8-6



Sewage Generation Factor Calibration 

Compare 2015 SCSMP Flow Monitoring with 

2015-16 Demand Forecast Tool Projections (mgd) 

Calibration Area 
Demand 

Forecast Tool 

Total Flow to MWRP 22.5 mgd* 

LAWRP (incl English Cyn) 3.9 

IBC I Tustin Legacy 

HATS Trunk Sewer 

Newport Coast 

•2011-12 Projection= 23.3 mgd 

5.2 

4.9 

1.0 

Sewer Flow Projections - Build Out 

40 

35 

30 

25 

� 20 

15 

10 

36.2 

32.1 32.6 

MWRP 

Comparison of the 2005-06 SCSMP, 

2011-12 Demand Factor Calibration, 

and the currently proposed sewer 

projections at build-out conditions: 

7.8 

nni, nni1 
LAWRP I BC I Tustin Legacy 

Flow Monitoring 

20.3 mgd 

3.4 

5.45 

4.8 

:::1.0 

0 2005·06 SCSMP 

02011-12 

• Proposed 

r----. ti -I 

Newport Coast 

11 ,11,e I< 111c1• VV,11e1 1)1s111c1 14 

8-7



Sensitivity Analysis - Conservation 

35 
32.6 32.3 Conducted three sensitivity scenarios on 

30 
ultimate sewer flows that reduced existing and 

25 

20 

15 

10 

MWRP 

future homes' indoor usage. 

• Reduce existing by 0% and future by 5%

• Reduce existing by 5% and future by 10%

• Reduce existing by 10% and future by 20%

Keep in mind, this analysis could be done for 

continued redevelopment and residential 

intensification that would show an increase in 

future sewer flows. 

5 5 4.8 4.6 

lAWRP IBC I Tustin Legacy 

•Proposed 

•o%/5% 

1!15%/10% 

•10%/ 20% 

1 1 0.9 0.9 
----

Newport Coast 

11 ,1, '"; h I ·w.1 ,11...,r I )1. lill' L� 

Flow Projection Conclusions and Next Steps 

• Conclusions

- Minimal projected reduction in overall sewer influent

flows to MWRP

- The proposed sewage generation factors (local-interior
water use) are well-calibrated

• Next Steps

- Incorporate results into the SCSMP

- Use results for the upcoming Sewage Treatment Plant

Master Plan

- Develop Scope of Work to revisit overall water demand

factors from 2011-2012 study and calibration

8-8



SCSMP - Progress Update 

Collection 

System Flow 

Charactenzat1on 

Review 
In 

progress 

• Completed - Presenting results
• Wet and Dry Weather Monitoring: 2-year storm

• 

• Completed building existing system hydraulic model 
• Completed condition assessment of lift stations, siphons,

and diversion structures
• Preliminary results show SDC Interceptor d/D =17%-49%

• 
• Developing build-out collection system 

hydraulic model 
• Identify future system needs

� 
� •.

• Building criticality based
system analysis tools.

• Verifying past analysis
• Develop recommendations

for critical facilities

1r1,n1I:' h:.111c1· V/ 11e1 ( 11str1ct 17 

SCSMP - Next Steps 

• Complete in late June
• Submit with 90% SCSMP

• Submit in July
• Review in July I August
• Includes future system model

• August I September E&O
• August I September Board

!1\11111-' 1(,lrl(.;r� l1'/,l[e1 l)ISIIICI g 

8-9

5/16/2016 

9 



CONSENT CALENDAR 

May 23, 2016 
Prepared and 
Submitted by: L. Bonkowski 
Approved by: P. Cook/ 0.

MINUTES OF BOARD MEETING 

SUMMARY: 

Provided are the minutes of the April 25, 2016 Regular Board Meeting for approval. 

FISCAL IMPACTS: 

None. 

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE: 

Not applicable. 

COMMITTEE STATUS: 

Not applicable. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

THAT THE MINUTES OF THE APRIL 25, 2016 REGULAR BOARD MEETING BE 
APPROVED AS PRESENTED. 

LIST OF EXHIBITS: 

Exhibit "A" -April 25, 2016 Minutes 

ns-Minutes of Board Meeting 5 



EXHIBIT "A" 

MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING - APRIL 25, 2016 

The regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Irvine Ranch Water District (IRWD) was called 
to order at 5:00 p.m. by President Matheis on April 25, 2016 in the District office, 15600 Sand Canyon 
A venue, Irvine, California. 

Directors Present: Reinhart, Swan, LaMar, Matheis and Withers. 

Directors Absent: None. 

Also Present: General Manager Cook, Executive Director of Engineering and Water Quality 
Burton, Executive Director of Finance and Administration Clary, Executive Director of Water 
Policy Weghorst, Executive Director of Operations Sheilds, Director of Treasury and Risk 
Management Jacobson, Director of Public Affairs Beeman, Director of Human Resources Roney, 
Legal Counsel Arneson, Secretary Bonkowski, Government Relations Officer Compton, 
Purchasing Manager Aguilar, Principle Engineer Akiyoshi, Mr. Barkev Meserlian, Ms. Tina 
Bertsch, Mr. Jim Reed, Mr. Bruce Newell, Ms. Donna Sutton of Neighborhood United, Ms. 
Debbie Knox of Neighborhood United, Mr. Andrew Lazenby of Black & Veatch, Mr. Jim Cathcart 
of Arcadis, Ms. Sandra Bauer, Ms. Peggy Falcon, Ms. Jennifer Fitzgerald of Curt Pringle and 
Associates, and other members of the public and staff. 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: None. 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: Ms. Donna Sutton, Ms. Sandra Bauer, and Ms. Debbie Knox 
expressed disappointment with the Local Agency Formation Commission's (LAFCO) recent vote on 
local sewer service for the Orange County Sanitation District Service Area 7 as they were hopeful that 
IRWD would be its future service provider. President Matheis thanked Ms. Jennifer Fitzgerald of Curt 
Pringle and Associates along with District staff on their efforts with preparing and submitting an 
application to LAFCO. 

ITEMS RECEIVED TOO LATE TO BE AGENDIZED: None. 

WORKSHOPS 

PROPOSED OPERATING BUDGET AND RATES AND CHARGES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2016-17 

General Manager Cook reported that this is the second workshop held on the proposed Operating 

Budget with the first workshop held on April 11, 2016. Mr. Cook said that rate increases are 

necessary to fund anticipated shortfalls in the water and sewer/recycled water systems. He said that 
the proposed budget is $146.9 million, representing an increase of $6.6 million, or 4. 7%, when 
compared with the Operating Budget for FY 2015-16. 

Using a PowerPoint presentation. Mr. Christopher Smithson provided an overview of the proposed 
operating budget and rate setting. Mr. Smithson reviewed the key driver comparison to the prior 
year's budget which includes salaries and benefits, purchased water, repairs and maintenance, 
electricity, and other expenses. He updated the Board on the effects of the proposed rate increases 

A-1



for a typical residential customer within the Irvine Ranch and Los Alisos rate areas noting that the 
rate impacts to the Irvine Ranch rate area are an increase of 4.2% for the average residential 
customer and the rate impacts to the Los Alisos rate area are an increase of 4.6% for the average 
residential customer. He then reviewed a comparison of both the IRWD and Los Alisos rate areas 
with neighboring agencies. Director LaMar inquired about the number of residents who will be 
receiving the $2.00 low volume credit, and asked that an update be provided at a Committee 
meeting. 

Smithson said that the Proposition 218 notices have been improved with a two to three page format 
which highlights the basic components, proposed commodity rates, proposed monthly water and 
sewer service charges, and other required noticing. He then reviewed its structure and noted the 
changes to the pumping surcharges. Mr. Smithson said that staff is proposing to mail the notices on 
May 6, 2016 with a Public hearing to be held on June 27, 2016. 

On MOTION by Swan, seconded and unanimously carried, THE BOARD ADOPTED THE 
FOLLOWING RESOLUTION BY TITLE APPROVING THE OPERATING BUDGET FOR 
FISCAL YEAR 2016-17 (WITH RATES AND CHARGES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2016-17 TO BE 
ADOPTED ON JUNE 27, 2016); AND APPROVED THE PROPOSITION 218 NOTICES 
SUBJECT TO NON-SUBSTANTIVE MODIFICATIONS. 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016 -6 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF IRVINE RANCH WATER DISTRICT, 

ORANGE COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 
APPROVING DISTRICT'S OPERATING BUDGET FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2016-17 AND DETERMINING COMPLIANCE WITH 
ARTICLE XIIIB OF THE CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION 

FISCAL YEAR 2016-17 CAPITAL BUDGET 

Using a PowerPoint presentation, Mr. Barkev Meserlian reported that actual expenditures are 
projected at approximately $136.8 million ( equating to 91 % of projected expenditures) through the 
end of the current fiscal year. Mr. Meserlian said that capital expenditures for FY 2016-17 are 
estimated at $160.2 million and that three projects: (1) the MWRP Biosolids and Energy Recovery 
Facilities, (2) Orange County Sanitation District's Capital Outlay Revolving Fund, Equity and Solids 
Facilities, and (3) the Irvine Lake Pipeline North Conversion project will make up approximately 
50% of projected expenditures. He said that this item was reviewed by the Engineering and 
Operations Committee on March 15, 2016. He said that the total FY 2016-17 capital expenditures 
presented to the Committee were $159.6 million; however, adjustments have been made to several 
improvement district splits and three project budgets were increased. He said that the FY 2016-17 
development activity is forecasted to be similar to 2015-16 and that multi-family and single-family 
dwelling units continue to be developed in Orchard Hills, Portola Springs, Cypress Village, Great 
Park neighborhoods and Baker Ranch. In response to Director Swan's request for an update on 
facilities at the Great Park and IIC-E to the San Diego Creek Interceptor, Mr. Burton said that an 
information item will be provided for Committee review. 

A-2



Mr. Meserlian reviewed the top 10 project groups, capital budget funding sources, and a long-term 
capital program summary which is estimated at $631.9 million. He further reviewed the Flagged 
projects which will require additional Board review and approval prior to proceeding with any 
expenditures. 

On MOTION by Reinhart, seconded and unanimously carried, THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION 
WAS ADOPTED BY TITLE: 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016 -7 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
IRVINE RANCH WATER DISTRICT, ORANGE COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, 

APPROVING DISTRICT'S CAPITAL BUDGET 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2016-17 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

On MOTION by Swan, seconded and unanimously carried, CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 5 
THROUGH 9 WERE APPROVED AS FOLLOWS: 

5. MINUTES OF BOARD MEETING

Recommendation: That the minutes of the April 11, 2016 Regular Board Meeting be
approved as presented.

6. RATIFY/APPROVE BOARD OF DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND
EVENTS

Recommendation: That the Board ratify/approve the meetings and events for Steven LaMar,
Mary Aileen Matheis, Douglas Reinhart, Peer Swan, and John Withers as described.

7. IRVINE RANCH WATER DISTRICT STRATEGIC MEASURES

Recommendation: Receive and file.

8. MARCH TREASURY REPORTS

Recommendation: That the Board receive and file the Treasurer's Investment Summary
Report, the Monthly Interest Rate Swap summary for March 2016, and disclosure report of
reimbursements to board members and staff; approve the March 2016 summary of payroll
ach payments in the total amount of $1,556,287 and approve the March 2016 accounts
payable disbursement summary of warrants 365608 through 366465, workers'
compensation distributions, wire transfers, payroll withholding distributions and voided
checks in the total amount of $27,855,901.

A-3



CONSENT CALENDAR (CONTINUED) 

9. REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN IRWD AND THE CITY OF IRVINE
FOR INSTALLATION AND ADJUSTMENT OF IRWD FACILITIES TO GRADE

Recommendation: That the Board authorize the General Manager to execute a
Reimbursement Agreement with the City of Irvine for its annual slurry seal and pavement
rehabilitation project.

ACTION CALENDAR 

SERIES 2009-A AND 2009-B BONDS LETTERS OF CRED T EXTENSION 

The District currently has $65 million of Series 2009-A Bonds (2009-A Bonds) with a U.S. Bank 
letter of credit (LOC) and $65 million of Series 2009-B Bonds (2009-B Bonds) with a Bank of 
America (B of A) letter of credit, both scheduled to expire on July 15, 2016. On MOTION by Swan, 
seconded and unanimously carried, THE BOARD APPROVED EXTENDING THE U.S. BANK 
LETTER OF CREDIT SUPPORTING THE 2009-A BONDS FOR 4-1/2 YEARS AT AN 
ANNUAL COST OF 0.41 %, APPROVED EXTENDING THE BANK OF AMERICA LETTER OF 
CREDIT SUPPORTING THE 2009-B BONDS FOR THREE YEARS AT AN ANNUAL COST OF 
0.40%; AND ADOPTED THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION BY TITLE: 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016 - 8 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
THE IRVINE RANCH WATER DISTRICT 

AUTHORIZING CERTAIN ACTIONS IN CONNECTION 
WITH EXTENSION OF LETTERS OF CREDIT 

(CONSOLIDATED SERIES 2009-A AND CONSOLIDATED SERIES 2009-B) 

OTHER BUSINESS 

GENERAL MANAGER'S REPORT 

General Manager Cook reported on the Harvard Avenue Trunk Station's lift station project and 
commended Collections, Mechanical, and Electrical staff on their work effort. Mr. Cook said that 
during the shutdown, 7.4 MGDs of flows were diverted to the Orange County Sanitation District. He 
further said that the contractor, Zebron, completed work today, and that service was restored. 

DJRECTORS'COMMENTS 

Director LaMar reported on his attendance at a National Water Resources Federal conference and a 
Southern California Water Committee meeting last Friday. 

Director Withers reported that he will attend an OCSD Board meeting on Wednesday. 

Director Swan said it was his understanding that the "Delta Fix" is unlikely to go forward and 
commented that the IRWD needs to take certain steps to better insulate the District's customers, and it is 
important to have back-up programs in place for additional water supplies. 

A-4



D1RECTORS COMMENTS (CONTINUED) 

In response to Director Reinhart' s comment on the recent ACW A report where the State Water 
Board is issuing mandatory consolidations, Ms. Christine Compton provided him an update on 
legislation whereby the State Board bypasses the LAFCO process only if there is a water quality 
violation in a disadvantaged community. 

Director Matheis reported that she will be attending the ACW A conference next week. She 
further thanked staff and General Manager Cook on their efforts on the application to LAFCO 
for the Orange County Sanitation District Service Area 7. 

ADJOURNMENT 

President Matheis adjourned the meeting at 6:50 p.m. 

APPROVED and SIGNED this 23rd day of May, 2016. 

President, IRVINE RANCH WATER DISTRICT 

Secretary IRVINE RANCH WATER DISTRICT 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Legal Counsel - Bowie, Arneson, Wiles & Giannone 

A-5



May 23, 2016 
1 \.,---Prepared and '-1 ;VQ 

Submitted by: N. Savedra/ 
Approved by: P. Cook/�,

CONSENT CALENDAR 

SUMMARY: 

RATIFY/APPROVE BOARD OF DIRECTORS' 
ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND EVENTS 

Pursuant to Resolution 2006-29 adopted on August 28, 2006, approval of attendance of the 
following events and meetings are required by the Board of Directors. 

Steven LaMar 

4/9-14/16 
5/14/16 
5/17/16 
6/2-3/16 

Events/Meetings 

NWRA Federal Water Issues Conference, Washington D.C. 
IRWD Resident Tour 
Irvine Ranch Conservancy Restoration Projects Tour 
ACW A Board Meeting, Sacramento, CA 

Mary Aileen Matheis 

5/16/16 
5/19/16 
5/20/16 
5/25/16 

Douglas Reinhart 

5/19/16 
5/20/16 
5/25/16 

Peer Swan 

3/03/16 
3/07/16 
3/14/16 
5/16/16 
5/25/16 
5/27/16 

John Withers 

5/18/16 
5/20/16 

Board Mtgs Events.doc 

IR WD Update on District Issues w/General Manager Paul Cook 
IRWD/MWDOC Meeting 
MWDOC-OC Water Summit 
Monthly Discussion of District Activities w/General Manager Paul Cook 

IRWD/MWDOC Meeting 
MWDOC-OC Water Summit 
Monthly Discussion of District Activities w/General Manager Paul Cook 

Newport Beach Chamber of Commerce Meeting 
Special Retirement Trust Meeting Investment Advisor Board Interviews 
Newport Watershed Meeting at SA WPA 
Integrated Regional Water Management Follow-up Discussion 
MWD-Southern California Water Dialogue Meeting 
OCWD/MWDOC Joint Committee Meeting 

OCWA 2016 Safety Fest for Water Industry 
MWDOC-OC Water Summit 

6 



Consent Calendar: Ratify I Approve Board of Directors' Attendance at Meetings and Events 
May 23, 2016 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

THAT THE BOARD RATIFY/APPROVE THE MEETINGS AND EVENTS FOR STEVEN 
LAMAR, MARY AILEEN MATHEIS, DOUGLAS REINHART, PEER SWAN AND JOHN 
WITHERS AS DESCRIBED. 

LIST OF EXHIBITS: 

None 



CONSENT CALENDAR 

SUMMARY: 

May 23. 2016 � T 
Prepared by: Jennifer Davis/Tanja Fournier£ 
Submitted by: Robert Jacobson/Cheryl Clary� 
Approved by: Paul Cooy�. 

APRIL 2016 TREASURY REPORTS 

The following is submitted for the Board's information and approval: 

A. The Investment Summary Report for April 2016. This Investment Summary
Report is in conformity with the 2016 Investment Policy and provides sufficient
liquidity to meet estimated expenditures during the next six months, as outlined
in Exhibit "A".

B. The Monthly Interest Rate Swap Summary as of April 30, 2016, as outlined in
Exhibit "B".

C. The Summary of Payroll ACH payments in the total amount of $2,337,626, as
outlined in Exhibit "C".

D. The April 30, 2016 Disbursement Summary of warrants 366466 through 367198,
wire transfers, Workers' Compensation distributions, payroll withholding
distributions, and voided checks in the total amount of $22,3 71,573 as outlined
in Exhibit "D".

E. The Disclosure Report of Reimbursements to Board Members and Staff for
April 2016, detailing payments or reimbursements for individual charges of
$100.00 or more per transaction, as outlined in Exhibit "E".

FISCAL IMPACTS: 

As of April 30, 2016, the book value of the investment portfolio was $240,912,192, with a 
0.73% rate ofretum and a market value of$240,967,838. Based on the District's March 31, 
2016 quarterly real estate investment rate of return of 13.63%, the weighted average return for 
the fixed income and real estate investments was 3. 77%. 

As of April 30, 2016, the total notional amount of the interest rate swap portfolio was $130 
million of fixed payer swaps. Cash accrual in April from all swaps was negative $555,673. 

Payroll ACH payments totaled $2,337,626, and wire transfers, all other ACH payments, and 
checks issued for debt service, accounts payable, payroll, and water purchases for April totaled 
$22,371,573. 

rj -Monthly Treasury Reports 4-2016.docx 

7 



Consent Calendar - April 2016 Treasury Reports 
May 23, 2016 
Page 2 

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE: 

This item is not a project as defined in the California Environmental Quality Act Code of 
Regulations, Title 14, Chapter 3 Section 15378. 

COMMITTEE STATUS: 

This item was not submitted to a Committee; however, the investment and interest rate swap 
reports are submitted to the Finance and Personnel Committee on a monthly basis. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

THAT THE BOARD RECEIVE AND FILE THE TREASURER'S INVESTMENT 
SUMMARY REPORT, THE MONTHLY INTEREST RATE SWAP SUMMARY FOR 
APRIL 2016, AND DISCLOSURE REPORT OF REIMBURSEMENTS TO BOARD 
MEMBERS AND STAFF; APPROVE THE APRIL 2016 SUMMARY OF PAYROLL ACH 
PAYMENTS IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF $2,337,626 AND APPROVE THE APRIL 2016 
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE DISBURSEMENT SUMMARY OF WARRANTS 366466 
THROUGH 367198, WORKERS' COMPENSATION DISTRIBUTIONS, WIRE 
TRANSFERS, PAYROLL WITHHOLDING DISTRIBUTIONS AND VOIDED CHECKS IN 
THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF $22,371,573. 

LIST OF EXHIBITS: 

Exhibit "A" - Investment Summary Report 
Exhibit "B" - Monthly Interest Rate Swap Summary 
Exhibit "C" - Monthly Payroll ACH Summary 
Exhibit "D" - Monthly Summary of District Disbursements 
Exhibit "E" - Disclosure of Reimbursements to Board Members and Staff 















































































































Consent Calendar: 2016 Legislative Update 
May 23, 2016 
Page 3 

AB 2304 (Levine, D-Santa Rosa) - State Water Market Exchange:

As reported to the Board last month, Assembly Water, Parks and Wildlife Chairman Marc Levin 
(D, Santa Rosa) introduced AB 2304 on behalf of the Environmental Defense Foundation. As 
introduced, AB 2304 would establish the California Water Market Exchange in the Natural 
Resources Agency. The statewide exchange would be responsible for creating a centralized 
water market platform through which information regarding all transfer and exchanges of water 
occurring after December 31, 2017, would be recorded, and charged a fee. The bill also 
expresses legislative intent regarding water transfers and exchanges. It states that it is the 
Legislature's intent that water transfer and exchanges protect and enhance environmental and 
community benefits including the following: 

• Instream flows and ecosystem water supply;
• Improved water monitoring and data networks;
• Ecosystem restoration projects benefiting aquatic and riparian species;
• Improved drinking water supply and quality projects;
• The development of needed technical, managerial and financial capacity for

disadvantaged communities; and
• Acquisition through the market exchange of needed water supplies for smaller

community water systems.

AB 2304 was significantly amended on May 11, 2016. The bill would now establish the 
California Water Market Clearinghouse for the purpose of making the water transfer and 
exchange process more transparent and more efficient, and to enhance access to voluntary water 
market transactions. All conveyances or transfers across the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta or 
from one watershed to another occurring after January 1, 2020, would be required to be 
submitted to and processed by the Clearinghouse, after paying an administrative fee. 

Additionally, the bill as amended would require the Secretary of the Natural Resources Agency 
to convene a Water Market Clearinghouse Task Force to make recommendations on: 

• Information on water transfers;
• Information required for water users and the public to track the progress of proposed

transfers; and
• The type of information that the Clearinghous should required including prioritization for

projects that provide environmental and community benefits.

IRWD has continued to be an active participant on Association of California Water Agencies' 
Water (ACWA) Transfer Task Force. The District, consistent with Board-adopted policy 
principles, has advocated for the development of voluntary regional water exchanges to facilitate 
voluntary water transfer between willing buyers and sellers consistent with existing water rights 
and priorities. Staff has also been participating on the ACWA State Legislative Committee's 
Work Group on Water Transfers which is discussing and seeking amendments to AB 1755 and 
AB 2304 (Levine, D-Santa Rosa). Staff will provide the Board with an update on any significant 
developments in these discussions. 









































































































































































































































































































































Water Shortage Contingency Plan, Irvine Ranch Water District, February 2009 

20 t() liltegrated Resources Plan Update, Metropolitan Water• Districfof Southern California, 
October 2010 

Regional Urban WtAterManagement Plan, Metropolita11 Water District of Southern Califon,ia, 
November 2010 

37 

Water Supply Assessment-West Alton Development Plan (4115) 

B-54






























































































































































































































	5/23/16 Board Meeting Agenda
	#4:  Sewer Flow Projections & Demand Factor Calibration
	#5:  Minutes of Board Meeting
	#6:  Ratify/Approve BOD Mtgs/Events
	#7:  April 2016 Treasury Reports
	#8:  Proposed Amended & Restated License & Sublicense for Use of San Joaquin Wildlife Sanctuary Site, Facilities & Accessways
	#9:  2016 Legislative Update
	#10  On-Call Plan Check Services
	#11:  Heritage Fields District 8 Bioretention Basin
	#12:  Peters Cyn Wash Channel Water Capture & Reuse Pipeline CCO
	#13:  MWRP Filter Pump Station 2 & Dyer Rd Wellfield Wells 12 & 13 Roof Modifications Construction Award
	#14:  Verifications of Sufficient Water Supply for the West Alton Parcel & El Toro 100-Acre Parcel Developments
	#15: MWRP Biosolids & Energy Recovery Fac. CCO & Amendment No. 1 to Agreement w/OCSD for Interim Solids Handling
	#16:  Holt Property Purchase
	#17:  Martin Property Puchase



